FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
8/11/2020 4:33 PM

# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/12/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. <u>9888</u>4-6 (COA No. 36552-2-III)

## THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

LANCE SMITH,

Petitioner.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR BENTON COUNTY

### PETITION FOR REVIEW

TIFFINIE MA Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610
Seattle, WA 98101
(206) 587-2711
tiffinie@washapp.org

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

TA	BLE OF CONTENTS	i			
TA	BLE OF AUTHORITIES	ii			
Α.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW	1			
В.	ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW	1			
C.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE	1			
	1. Mr. Smith suffered a head injury which drastically altered his behavior and mental health. Following his accident, he developed delusions regarding a coworker, resulting in the issuance of nocontact orders and violations of those orders				
	2. Mr. Smith exercised his right to self-representation, which the court granted and then revoked following a mistrial despite multiple competency findings				
	3. Mr. Smith subsequently made repeated requests to regain he pro se status				
	4. The Court of Appeals found no error.	. 11			
D.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED	. 11			
	The court erred when it terminated Mr. Smith's pro se status and when it failed to consider his subsequent repeated requests to reinstate his pro se status.				
	1. Mr. Smith had an explicit, fundamental right to represent himself				
	2. Mr. Smith's requests to proceed pro se were timely, unequivocal, knowing, intelligent, and voluntary.				
	3. The court erred when it terminated Mr. Smith's pro se status based on concern about the administration of justice and Mr. Smith's mental health				
	4. The court failed to correctly apply the law when it refused to consider Mr. Smissubsequent requests to represent himself.				
E.	CONCLUSION	. 20			

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

# **United States Supreme Court Cases**

Faretta v. California, 522 U.S. 806, 95 S. Ct. 2525, 45 L. Ed. 2d 562 (1975)
Illinois v. Allen, 397 U.S. 337, 90 S. Ct. 1057, 25 L. Ed. 2d 353 (1970)13
Indiana v. Edwards, 554 U.S. 164, 128 S. Ct. 2379, 171 L. Ed. 2d 345 (2008)
Washington Supreme Court Cases
In re Detention of Turay, 139 Wn.2d 379, 986 P,2d 790 (1999))12
In re Fleming, 142 Wn.2d 853, 16 P.3d 610 (2001)13
State v. Hahn, 106 Wn.2d 885, 726 P.2d 25 (1986)
State v. Madsen, 168 Wn.2d 496, 229 P.3d 714 (2010)passim
State v. Rhome, 172 Wn.2d 654, 260 P.3d 874 (2011)11, 13, 14
State v. Stenson, 132 Wn.2d 668, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997)
Washington Court of Appeals Cases
State v. Lawrence, 166 Wn. App. 378, 271 P.3d 280 (2012)
Constitutional Provisions
Const. art. I, § 22
Statutes
RCW 10.77.060(1)(a)
Rules
RAP 13 4(b) 20

### A. <u>IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW</u>

Lance Smith asks this Court to review the opinion of the Court of Appeals in *State v. Smith*, 36522-2 (issued on July 9, 2020). A copy of the opinion is attached as Appendix A.

### B. <u>ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

Article I, § 22 guarantees the right to self-representation where his request is timely, unequivocal, knowing, voluntary, and intelligent. Similarly, the Sixth Amendment implicitly affords such a right. A court may not deny a motion for self-representation merely because it would be detrimental or less efficient for the court. Moreover, if the defendant's competency is at issue, the court should order an evaluation. Here, the court first ruled Mr. Smith could represent himself, but later revoked his pro se status due to concerns about his mental health and the ability to pick a jury. The court did not order a competency evaluation. Did the trial court err by revoking Mr. Smith's pro se status under these circumstances?

### C. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

1. Mr. Smith suffered a head injury which drastically altered his behavior and mental health. Following his accident, he developed delusions regarding a coworker, resulting in the issuance of no-contact orders and violations of those orders.

In 2010, Lance Smith worked as a server at a restaurant in Richland. 1/7/19 RP 238. There, he met Jennifer Bonneru, and they developed a friendly relationship but were never romantically involved. *Id.* at 238-39.

During this time, Mr. Smith had a snowboarding accident resulting in a traumatic head injury. *Id.* at 239. When he returned to work, his behavior was drastically different. *Id.* at 240. He began "acting strange, saying weird things," attempted to dig holes in concrete, and peeled off window decals at the restaurant. *Id.* The restaurant fired Mr. Smith. *Id.* 

Mr. Smith began contacting Ms. Bonneru through text messages, letters, and online messages. 1/7/19 RP 241. The messages were lengthy and nonsensical, proclaiming love or expressing a desire for friendship. *Id.* at 241, 276-77. Ms. Bonneru asked him to stop and changed her contact information. *Id.* After an incident where Mr. Smith sent her approximately 200 texts, Ms. Bonneru obtained a no-contact order. *Id.* at 242-43. Additional orders were put in place after Mr. Smith violated the first one. *Id.* at 244.

In the fall of 2017, Mr. Smith sent Ms. Bonneru messages in violation of a valid no-contact order. 1/7/19 RP 250. In January 2018, he saw her through the window of a bar and waved at her. *Id.* at 284-85. Ms. Bonneru's friend asked him to leave and called the police. *Id.* at 285-86. Mr. Smith walked over to a parking lot where he was arrested. *Id.*; 1/8/19 RP 326.

At trial, Mr. Smith argued his capacity to form knowledge was diminished by his mental illnesses. 1/7/19 RP 236; 1/9/19 RP 507. Mr. Smith suffered from delusional disorder and schizotypal personality disorder. 1/8/19 RP 342, 344. He believed he had a romantic relationship with Ms.

Bonneru despite evidence to the contrary. *Id.* at 342. His schizotypal personality made it difficult to form close relationships because it resulted in "oddness" and "eccentricities." *Id.* at 344. As a result, Mr. Smith did not "knowingly, intelligently decide on those behaviors" which constituted violations of a no-contact order. *Id.* at 348. His mental illnesses were "a genuine psychological incapacity." *Id.* 

Mr. Smith's mental health issues caused him to have "outbursts," and to have difficulty following the court's orders not to interrupt. *See, e.g.,* 1/7/19 RP 167-68; 3/14/18 RP 40; 3/12/18 RP 45-46. The jury convicted Mr. Smith of both counts of felony violation of a no-contact order. CP 67-68.

2. Mr. Smith exercised his right to self-representation, which the court granted and then revoked following a mistrial despite multiple competency findings.

The State charged Mr. Smith with two felony violations of a nocontact order under separate cause numbers, one in 2017 and one in 2018. CP 31-32, 91-92. The matters were eventually joined for trial. CP 16. Throughout the proceedings in both cases, Mr. Smith made repeated, unequivocal motions to represent himself.

The court appointed counsel at arraignment on the 2017 cause number. 12/14/17 RP 6-8. Three weeks later, Mr. Smith requested to represent himself. 1/4/18 RP 3. When the court asked why, he stated, "I am

innocent, and I believe that I will - - to make sure I get proved innocent I know that I'll have a bigger affect [sic] representing myself for my innocence." *Id.* at 5. Mr. Smith assured the court he had understood the applicable law. *Id.* at 5-6. The court denied the request, finding appointed counsel had "more experience and more legal knowledge" than Mr. Smith. *Id.* at 6. The court invited Mr. Smith to provide "a written basis" for why he should represent himself and "why that would be better . . . than being represented by experienced counsel." *Id.* 

A week later during arraignment on the 2018 matter, Mr. Smith again explicitly requested to represent himself. 1/12/18 RP 9. The court conducted the following colloquy:

THE COURT: Do you wish to be represented by an attorney?

THE DEFENDANT: I wish to represent myself.

THE COURT: Sir, have you ever represented yourself in a criminal proceeding?

THE DEFENDANT: No. But I have had multiple trials. And I do understand enough to represent myself.

THE COURT: Now, sir, those trials were not in -- criminal matters. Those were in civil; correct?

THE DEFENDANT: Either way, I understand. I've looked into it -- asking questions from multiple attorneys and researching enough on the internet and asking people that I know. I one hundred percent have enough power in myself to represent myself.

THE COURT: Sir, you understand that the charge is allegation of felony violation of a protection order?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I do.

THE COURT: Have you been charged with that offense in the past?

THE DEFENDANT: No, I have not. I got blackmailed into signing for two of them in those two counts. But I'd like you to know, Judge, that I was blackmailed.

THE COURT: All right. And again you understand that anything you do say that could relate to this charge could be used against you in a future prosecution?

THE DEFENDANT: One hundred percent.

THE COURT: All right. Do you know what the potential statutory maximums are for this charge, violation of a protection order, felony level?

THE DEFENDANT: No one has told me. No.

THE COURT: Those statutory maximums are up to five years in jail and a fine not to exceed \$10,000. Do you have any formal training in the law?

THE DEFENDANT: Just from what I've received from what you guys have told me, what attorneys have told me, and what I have seen live in court.

And I have actually received some training over at the forensic ward in Eastern State Hospital. Every day I had to go to a class to become competent where a teacher actually showed us videos on law every single day. He showed us all the definitions. He showed us what everybody represents in the court, what we're allowed to say, and what we're allowed to do. I had that training for six months.

THE COURT: Are you familiar with the rules of evidence?

THE DEFENDANT: I'm not, like, greatly familiar with them; but I am familiar with them. But I have no evidence anyways. So I would -- that would seemed to be the last person's problem -- was that I needed to know the rules of evidence. But, I mean, no one has addressed me too much of those.

THE COURT: Are you familiar with the Revised Code of Washington which defines the charge here and determines what the necessary elements are?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. I do understand that.

THE COURT: All right. So you've already reviewed RCW 26.50.110(5).

THE DEFENDANT: I believe I have reviewed it one time or two times.

THE COURT: Do you understand that, were you to represent yourself, the Court couldn't help you?

THE DEFENDANT: I heard someone -- my attorney that you guys gave me told me that the Court can give you an attorney at your side.

So that's wrong?

THE COURT: Well, as to my first question to you, you understand that the Court itself cannot help you?

THE DEFENDANT: I understand that, yes. Definitely.

. . .

THE COURT: Well, I'll treat your request in the alternative: So you indicate that you're not familiar with the rules of evidence or the statutes that would apply in this case?

THE DEFENDANT: The statutes to the evidence rule that you're bringing up?

THE COURT: Well, they are different things.

THE DEFENDANT: Like I said, I believe I am a little bit relevant with the statutes, not so much the evidence.

. . .

THE COURT: Do you have prescribed medication that is prescribed for you to take?

THE DEFENDANT: As of right now, from my Transitions stay that I just got out of, like, a week ago, my last psychological doctor told me I am not bipolar and there is no need for me to take any medications other than Ambien for sleep. That's what my last psychological doctor told me. And I have paperwork at my house stating that.

## 1/12/18 RP 8-15.

The court also discussed the concept of "standby counsel" with Mr. Smith, which he understood. *Id.* at 12-13. Mr. Smith also indicated he would pursue pro se status in the 2017 matter as well. *Id.* at 15. Despite this colloquy, the court denied the request to represent himself. *Id.* at 16. The court found it "was not persuaded today . . . that it is appropriate" and appointed counsel over Mr. Smith's objection. *Id.* at 16, 18.

On January 25, 2018, the court ordered a competency evaluation for Mr. Smith. 1/25/18 RP 2; CP 5-11. The evaluation determined he was competent to stand trial. CP 15. The same day, Mr. Smith again moved to represent himself on both matters. 2/15/18 RP 13. Per the court's instruction "to come up with a good enough basis" for his request, Mr. Smith provided a letter indicating he understood the legal process and that he had to follow the rules of evidence. *Id.* at 15. His then-assigned counsel was

also satisfied Mr. Smith understood his rights and the risks involved in self-representation. *Id.* at 14. The State also reiterated those risks and potential consequences to Mr. Smith, which he understood "100 percent." *Id.* at 16-17. The court granted the request to proceed pro se. *Id.* 

Two weeks later, the court attempted to discourage Mr. Smith from proceeding pro se. 2/28/18 RP 51. Mr. Smith rejected the court's entreaties and declined to have counsel reappointed. *Id.* The matters proceeded to trial, but resulted in a mistrial. 3/12/18 RP 86-87. During jury selection, Mr. Smith's comments, questions, and gestures caused at least two potential jurors to openly question his competence and ability to represent himself. *Id.* at 81. After removing the venire, the court expressed concern Mr. Smith's behavior had "created a situation where this jury will not be fair to you," and found he was "presently unable to represent" himself and "that there is no reason for this court to believe that [he] could successfully pick a jury." *Id.* at 83. Mr. Smith did not believe the jury was irreparably tainted, stating, "I understand that, but I believe they will be fair to me, even if it looks that way." *Id.* Finding the venire "tainted beyond the point of recovery," the court declared a mistrial but did not order competency evaluation. *Id.* at 86-87.

At a hearing on March 14, the court questioned Mr. Smith's ability to continue pro se. 3/14/18 RP 32-33. The court did not find Smith had made a mistake or broken a law during his trial, and had not held him in contempt.

*Id.* Mr. Smith asked for another opportunity to conduct the trial, stating, "If you give me another chance to represent myself . . . [y]ou'll see one hundred percent law and order. I'll follow all the rules. I'll make no mistakes." *Id.* at 36. He reiterated to the court, "I understand your rules. I understand what I'm allowed to do . . . I know it enough to pick a jury. I know enough to question witnesses." *Id.* at 37.

The court found Mr. Smith "unable to keep from acting out. And that makes it impossible for [him] to discharge the role of representing [him]self." 3/14/18 RP 40. The court further found he was disruptive, and "there's no reasonable likelihood that [he] can effectively represent [him]self." *Id.* at 40-41. Additionally, the court found Mr. Smith had "waived by conduct" his right to self-representation, and that "mental health not rising to the level of capacity . . . while not an issue originally, through later conduct has changed the calculus properly considered. It means that it would deny Mr. Smith substantial rights to allow him to continue to represent himself." *Id.* at 44, 50. The court reappointed counsel. 3/14/18 RP 43.

# 3. Mr. Smith subsequently made repeated requests to regain his pro se status.

Mr. Smith made several additional requests reasserting his right to self-representation. On April 11, 2018, defense counsel moved to obtain an independent competency evaluation. CP 21-25. Dr. Jameson Lontz, the defense's independent evaluator, found Mr. Smith competent and the court

entered an order to that effect on July 25. CP 28; 7/25/18 RP 4-5. That day, the court acknowledged Mr. Smith had sent the court letters intended as a "motion . . . to gain my rights back to represent myself as my own attorney." 7/25/18 RP 6. The court stayed the motions pending a second evaluation for insanity and diminished capacity defenses. *Id*.

As part of the second evaluation, the evaluators again found Mr. Smith was fit to stand trial on October 24, 2018. 10/24/18 RP 90. Mr. Smith declared he had a "civil liberty" to represent himself and asked the court to confirm that information. *Id.* at 92-93. The court did not address the inquiry and ended the hearing. *Id.* at 93. On November 5, 2018, Mr. Smith again stated, "Self-representation is a civil liberty and not a privilege granted from a judge." 11/5/18 RP 20-21. He further correctly stated, "It's my civil liberty to represent myself." *Id.* Similarly, on December 19, Mr. Smith asserted, "For the record of the court, attorney Shelley Ajax does not represent me, I represent myself." 12/19/18 RP 50.

On the first day of Mr. Smith's second trial, he informed the court, "I believe it is a civil liberty for me to represent myself as my own attorney." 1/7/19 RP 99. The court construed this as a request to proceed pro se, which it denied outright. *Id.* at 99-100. Mr. Smith reiterated, "I want my rights," to no avail. *Id.* at 101. The court found he had abused his right to self-representation, and that to allow him to continue would "seriously affect

and/or prevent the administration of justice." *Id.* at 119. During jury selection, Mr. Smith announced he wanted to fire his attorney, and he was a pro se defendant. *Id.* at 161. The court found Mr. Smith's exclamations were not "a volitional choice on [his] part." *Id.* at 164.

On the last day of trial and sentencing respectively, Mr. Smith again reiterated his desire to proceed pro se and his dismay that the court had repeatedly refused his requests. 1/9/19 RP 517; 1/10/19 RP 531.

# 4. The Court of Appeals found no error.

On appeal, the Court of Appeals found no error. Slip Op. at 13. The court relied on *State v. Rhome*, 172 Wn.2d 654, 260 P.3d 874 (2011) almost exclusively, and ruled the trial court had not improperly denied Mr. Smith his right to self-representation. Slip Op. at 8-13. The court did not address whether the trial court should have ordered another competency evaluation to determine if Mr. Smith could represent himself. Slip Op. at 8-13.

## D. <u>ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED</u>

The court erred when it terminated Mr. Smith's pro se status and when it failed to consider his subsequent repeated requests to reinstate his pro se status.

1. Mr. Smith had an explicit, fundamental right to represent himself.

An accused has a fundamental right to self-representation under Article I, § 22 of the Washington Constitution. Const. art. I, § 22 ("the accused shall have the right to appear and defend in person"); *State v. Madsen*,

168 Wn.2d 496, 503, 229 P.3d 714 (2010). Similarly, the Sixth Amendment implicitly provides defendants a right to proceed pro se. *Faretta v. California*, 522 U.S. 806, 819, 95 S. Ct. 2525, 45 L. Ed. 2d 562 (1975). This right is afforded regardless of its "potentially detrimental impact on both the defendant and the administration of justice." *Madsen*, 168 Wn.2d at 503 (citing *Faretta*, 422 U.S. at 834). An unjustified denial of an accused's right to self-representation "*requires* reversal." *State v. Stenson*, 132 Wn.2d 668, 737, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997) (emphasis added). The denial of a request for pro se status is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Id.* at 504

While trial courts must employ reasonable presumptions "against a defendant's waiver" of the right to counsel, the court does not have "carte blanche to deny a motion to proceed pro se." *Madsen*, 168 Wn.2d at 504 (citing *In re Detention of Turay*, 139 Wn.2d 379, 396, 986 P,2d 790 (1999)). Where a request is unequivocal, timely, voluntary, knowing, and intelligent, courts may not deny a defendant his right to self-representation. *See id.* at 504-05. "A court may not deny a motion for self-representation based on grounds that" it "would be detrimental to the defendant[]" or that "courtroom proceedings will be less efficient and orderly." *Madsen*, 168 Wn.2d at 505. Moreover, the court "may not deny pro se status merely because the defendant is unfamiliar with legal rules or . . . is obnoxious.

Courts must not sacrifice constitutional rights on the altar of efficiency." Id. at 509 (emphasis in original).

Likewise, the defendant's lack of "skill and judgment" does not preclude him from self-representation. *State v. Hahn*, 106 Wn.2d 885, 890 n.2, 726 P.2d 25 (1986). Technical legal knowledge is irrelevant "to an assessment of [a defendant's] knowing exercise of the right to defend himself." *Faretta*, 422 U.S. at 836. "It is undeniable that in most criminal prosecutions defendants could better defend with counsel's guidance than by their own unskilled efforts." *Id.* at 834. But, "it is the defendant" who bears "the personal consequences of a conviction." *Id.* Although self-representation may be "to his own detriment, his choice must be honored out of 'that respect for the individual which is the lifeblood of the law." *Id.* (quoting *Illinois v. Allen*, 397 U.S. 337, 350-351, 90 S. Ct. 1057, 25 L. Ed. 2d 353 (1970)).

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