FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/13/2020 2:56 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 98884-6

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

LANCE THEOPOLIS SMITH, Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ANDY MILLER Prosecuting Attorney for Benton County

Terry J. Bloor Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSBA No. 9044 OFFICE ID 91004

7122 West Okanogan Place Bldg. A Kennewick WA 99336 (509) 735-359l

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

The defendant began with a two-page monologue wherein he asked one question: "Does anybody kind of want to be here or is interested in this trial, raise your hand?" RP 03/12/18 at 61. He also said, "Raise your hand if you like me. No one likes me. Okay. That felt really good. All right." RP 03/12/18 at 61-62.

He again asked, "Who doesn't want to be here really, really bad?" RP 03/12/18 at 62. A number of potential jurors raised their hands, including Juror No. 30. *Id.* The defendant again asked, "(Juror) 30, why don't you want to be here?" RP 03/12/18 at 63. Juror 30 answered, "I think your conduct and decision to represent yourself has put you at a disadvantage to prove your own innocence" *Id.* Juror 30 stated that

the defendant had made such a bad impact on him that he could not be fair. Juror 30 was excused. *Id*.

However, many jurors agreed with that sentiment. Juror 43 said, "My thoughts (are) exactly with 30. Your decision might have been a bad one." He was excused. RP 03/12/18 at 64. The next juror to speak, Juror 45, said, "I echo 43." He was excused. RP 03/12/18 at 65. The next juror to speak was Juror 15, who said, "I echo Juror 30 as well. I can't believe that you are representing yourself." RP 03/12/18 at 65. She was excused. RP 03/12/18 at 67.

The defendant seemed to try to regroup: "I am just kind of burning up 20 minutes. I am just kind of making this up as I go. . . . I am winging this. I am just trying to, you know, win the favor of my jury a little bit, you know, make you guys appreciate me a little bit. I mean, what can I tell you about myself? I have had a great life and a really rough life" RP 03/12/18 at 67.

At this point, the prosecutor objected and stated that the defendant should ask questions. RP 03/12/18 at 67. That objection was sustained. RP 03/12/18 at 68.

The defendant began asking questions that, if coming from a licensed attorney, would be considered bizarre. "[H]ow familiar are you with the courtroom? How many times have you come to court before?" RP

03/12/18 at 68. He used the answer to state, "I am a very honest person, a very good person." RP 03/12/18 at 68.

He next asked, "Number 8, what is the most famous attorney that you have ever heard of?" RP 03/12/18 at 68-69. This caused Juror 33 to ask to address the Judge. Juror 33 said, "I am concerned whether the defendant is of a sound mind the way this is proceeding and I just wanted to bring that to your attention." RP 03/12/18 at 69.

The following colloquy occurred:

Mr. Smith: Does that mean you are excited to be here or not excited to be here? Because a lot of people will look at this both ways.

This is—I am either really entertaining—I either come off as a genius and really entertaining or really irritating and completely mental." RP 03/12/18 at 69.

Juror 33: Our time is really valuable and it feels like you are not taking that into account. RP 03/12/18 at 69-70.

Mr. Smith: No. I am 100 percent. And like I said, I have really great appreciation for life. And in every moment I am at I stick out wherever I am as having more fun than everybody else. I don't do that on purpose. It's just naturally who I am. I am a skater. RP 03/12/18 at 70.

Juror 33: If you don't have important questions to ask the jury I would request that you move ahead so we can complete this session. RP 03/12/18 at 70.

Mr. Smith: I actually asked someone and they said they wanted to hear what I had to say. So I mean, I guess at this point I feel that you may not want to be on the jury. RP 03/12/18 at 70.

Juror 33: I am happy to serve. RP 03/12/18 at 70.

Mr. Smith: Okay. RP 03/12/18 at 70.

Juror 33: However, as long as we are moving ahead as rapidly as possible and not just talk about yourself but try to pick a jury that's going to serve what you think is best for you. RP 03/12/18 at 70.

Mr. Smith: Well, what I am trying to do is make the jury like me, because if the jury likes you then at the end of the trial they will give you an innocent plea rather than a guilty one. RP 03/12/18 at 70.

Juror 33: I am more concerned about making a good judgment, not about liking you or not. RP 03/12/18 at 70.

The defendant moved on but did not heed Juror 33's advice because his next questions was, "(Juror) Number 9, are you excited for St. Patrick's Day?" RP 03/12/18 at 71. When the response was "Not really," the defendant replied that he hoped he would be out of jail because he liked corned beef. RP 03/12/18 at 71.

The defendant continued asking irrelevant questions when he next asked, "(Juror) Number 10, do you like the way our government is being ran right now?" RP 03/12/18 at 71. And, "(Juror) Number 1, do you think it's cool or not cool that the Bible is no longer in our courtroom?" RP 03/12/18 at 72. And, "(Juror) Number 2, is it springtime right now? I have been locked up for two months." RP 03/12/18 at 73.

He then asked three more jurors what they thought of the current government. RP 03/12/18 at 73. This prompted Juror 36 to state, "Mr. Smith, I am concerned about your ability to represent yourself. You are off topic. . . . [Y]ou don't seem to be aware of what time of year it is, and I don't think I can be fair because I don't think you have the capability to represent yourself." RP 03/12/18 at 73.

The trial judge then asked the bailiff to escort the jury pool from the courtroom. RP 03/12/18 at 74. The Judge noted that two jurors had expressed a concern about the defendant's competency and ability to represent himself. The defendant told the jury that he was incarcerated and was asking repetitive questions. RP 03/12/18 at 74. The court could have also noted the reluctance of Juror No. 33 to participate, as well as Jurors 30, 43, 15 and 45 being excused because they felt they could not be fair to the defendant.

The Judge concluded that the defendant's behavior had created a situation where the jury would not be fair to him and declared a mistrial. RP 03/12/18 at 76. The Judge further concluded that there was no reason to believe that the defendant could successfully pick a jury. RP 03/12/18 at 76. The Judge continued the case two days, to March 14, 2018 to reset the trial date and to readdress whether the defendant should continue to represent himself. RP 03/12/18 at 77.

March 14, 2018: Trial Judge concludes that the defendant's right to self-representation should be withdrawn.

On March 14, 2018, the Judge reported that the jurors were dismayed at the defendant's behavior when he debriefed them after he declared the mistrial. RP 01/12/18 at 38-39. The Judge also noted that the nonverbal conduct of the defendant, including gestures, resulted in the jury becoming unresolvedly tainted against him. RP 01/12/18 at 32-34.

The court noted the defendant's consistent pattern of being unable to keep from acting out, which made it impossible for the defendant to represent himself. RP 01/12/18 at 40. That pattern was evident in the hearing on this date. He wanted the Judge to refer to him as "Attorney Smith." RP 01/12/18 at 31. He tried to question the Judge about whether he made a mistake, gave contempt, or broke the law. RP 01/12/18 at 32. He challenged the Judge to "speak honestly" and "be honest and fair." RP

01/12/18 at 33. He wanted the Judge to demonstrate the gestures the defendant made to the jury. RP 01/12/18 at 34. He claimed that his voir dire was "really genius." RP 01/12/18 at 34. He accused the Judge of having a grudge against him and of perjury. RP 01/12/18 at 35, 38.

The Judge stated he reviewed several cases, including *State v. Afeworki*, 189 Wn. App. 327, (2015), *State v. Thompson*, 169 Wn. App. 436 (2012), and *State v. Kolocotronis*, 73 Wn.2d 92 (1968), and denied the defendant the right to continue to represent himself. RP 01/12/18 at 29, 40, 44.

Trial on January 7, 2019: The defendant is removed to a media room where he could see and hear the proceedings.

The case was called for trial on January 7, 2019. RP at 96. The defendant was represented by Ms. Ajax. RP at 97. Nevertheless, the Court had lengthy colloquies with the defendant in which he stated that he was not ready for trial, requested that he be allowed to represent himself, accused the Judge of committing a crime and said the Judge would be in trouble with the United States Army and with congress, called his attorney a fraud. RP at 97, 99, 101, 122, 124. The trial judge warned him that he could be removed from the courtroom if he continued to disrupt the proceedings. RP at 102.

The jury pool was brought in for voir dire shortly thereafter. RP at 125. During the voir dire, the defendant said, "For the record, Attorney Ajax, you are fired because you don't listen to me and you are jeopardizing my innocence." RP at 161. The court called a recess and as the jurors were being escorted out of the courtroom, the defendant said, "Keep that in mind jurors. . . . As you are leaving, she does not represent me." RP at 161.

As a result, the defendant was removed to a media room where he could see and hear the proceedings. RP at 169. There were no further interruptions or outbursts.

Substantive facts from trial:

The defendant was a server at a restaurant in Richland in 2010. RP at 238. Jennifer Bonneru was a bartender at that restaurant. RP at 237.

They never dated or had a romantic relationship. RP at 239.

For whatever reason, the defendant developed an obsession with Ms. Bonneru. The defendant began writing lengthy letters to her. RP at 243. She asked him to stop, but he continued. RP at 241, 243. One time her car broke down near Biggs, Oregon. She had so many incoming text messages from the defendant that she could not call a tow truck. RP at 242.

He posted messages for her on Facebook. RP at 249. He sent letters to her place of employment. RP at 250. He threatened her exboyfriends. RP at 250. He contacted her sister and mother. RP at 250. She estimated that she had received hundreds of letters from the defendant. RP at 253. He would sometimes send 3-4 letters a day, some over 17 pages long. RP at 280. On one text he wrote, "I feel like hurting you and every living thing around you." RP at 280. His constant efforts to contact Ms. Bonneru affected her and everyone around her. RP at 250-51. He sent a package to her apartment. RP at 255.

He continued to contact her regardless of Ms. Bonneru obtaining a No Contact Order. RP at 244. He was twice convicted of Violation of a No Contact Order. Ex. 1; RP at 246.

Count I involved a series of letters, packages, and Facebook messages the defendant sent to Ms. Bonneru from September 23, 2017 to December of 2017. See RP at 252, 254, 264 He wrote her a letter postmarked September 23, 2017 to her place of employment. Ex. 5; RP at 252. He wrote her two letters to her apartment. Ex. 6, 7; RP at 253-54. On October 25, 2017, he sent her a package to an old address. RP at 254-55. He sent her Facebook messages in December 2017. RP at 264.

Count II involved an in-person contact on January 10, 2018. Ms. Bonneru was out at a bar with friends, including Breanna Watts,

celebrating Ms. Watts' birthday. RP at 265, 283. The police found the defendant about 50 yards from the bar. RP at 327. He told a police officer that he just happened to see Ms. Bonneru at the bar and waived at her. RP at 327.

Those other witnesses include Ms. Bonneru, who saw the defendant knocking on the glass window of the bar and waving frantically, trying to get her attention. RP at 266. Ms. Watts saw the same and told him to leave. RP at 285. The defendant did not leave, but circled around the building, and crossed the sidewalk. RP at 285-86. Ms. Watts called the police when the defendant kept pacing back and forth, staring at the bar. RP at 286.

III. ARGUMENT

A. The Petition for Review should not be accepted under RAP 13.4 (b).

1. Standard for review:

RAP 13.4 (b) sets out the considerations governing acceptance of review:

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or

- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

2. The defendant's petition does not meet any of these considerations.

Regarding consideration (4), there is no allegation that the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest. A person with mental health problems was stalking a former co-worker. That person wanted to represent himself, he failed, and the trial court revoked the decision allowing the defendant to go pro se. The only parties interested are the defendant, the police, and the victim.

Regarding consideration (3), there is no issue of a significant question of constitutional law. The defendant has a constitutional right to an attorney and a constitutional right to represent himself. But what happens when a defendant wants to go pro se but is unable to make it through voire dire without infuriating potential jurors? That is an issue for the sound discretion of the trial court, guided by various opinions from the Court of Appeals and Supreme Court.

The defendant argues the Court of Appeals decision is inconsistent with *In re Rhome*, 172 Wn.2d 654, 659-60, 260 P.3d 874, 878-79 (2011) and especially with the statement that "the right of self-representation does

not extend to persons who lack the mental capacity to represent themselves." The defendant claims *Rhome* did not so hold. However, the *Rhome* court held exactly that:

[T]he United States Supreme Court [in *Indiana v*. *Edwards*, 554 U.S. 164, 128 S.Ct. 2379] considered whether a state may insist that a defendant who is found mentally competent to stand trial must nevertheless proceed to trial with counsel, rather than be allowed to represent himself. Recognizing that *Faretta* and authority since *Faretta* placed limits on the right to self-representation, the Edwards Court further held that it is constitutionally permissible for a state to deny a defendant pro se status "on the ground that [he] lacks the mental capacity to conduct his trial defense" even though he was found competent to stand trial.

Rhome, 172 Wn.2d at 659-60.

The *Edwards* Court observed that the standard to determine whether a defendant is competent to stand trial assumes he will *assist* in his defense, not conduct his defense, and therefore competency to stand trial does not automatically equate to a right to self-representation. *Indiana v. Edwards*, 554 U.S. 164, 174-75, 128 S. Ct. 2379, 171 L. Ed. 2d. 345 (2008). In addition, while the dignity and autonomy of an individual underscore the right to self-representation, in the *Edwards* court's view, a right of self-representation at trial will not "affirm the dignity" of a defendant who lacks the mental capacity to conduct his defense without the assistance of counsel. To the contrary, given that defendant's uncertain

mental state, the spectacle that could well result from his self-representation at trial is at least as likely to prove humiliating as ennobling. *Id.* at 176.

The defendant also argues that the Court of Appeals decision is not consistent with *State v. Madsen*, 168 Wn.2d 496, 229 P.3d 714 (2010). However, the court was not faced with a defendant who had mental health problems. In *Madsen*, the court did not order a competency examination. When asked the defendant "volunteered to take an 'IQ test' or a 'psychological exam[,] [w]hatever you need." *Id.* at 502. The defendant's attorney told the court there were no concerns regarding competency. *Id.* at 510. The court denied the defendant's request to represent himself because he had not been to law school, he did not know how to select a jury, and the trial judge believed he was "not relishing the idea' of representing himself." *Id.* at 502.

Thus, there were no issues about Mr. Madsen's mental capacity to represent himself. The *Madsen* court concluded that a court may not deny pro se status merely because the defendant is unfamiliar with legal rules or because the defendant is obnoxious. *Id.* at 509. Here, Mr. Smith's request for pro se status was denied because he lacked the mental capacity to represent himself.

There is one additional distinction between this case and *Madsen*. Mr. Madsen was never allowed to represent himself. Mr. Smith infuriated potential jurors during voir dire. The trial court should have the discretion to revoke the defendant's pro se status when he does not have the mental capacity to make it through voir dire without causing a mass revolt among the jury pool. The Court of Appeals' decision is not in conflict with any opinion from this court or another division of the Court of Appeals.

IV. CONCLUSION

Accordingly, the petitioner for review should be denied.